# DO NOT REMOVE CONTAINS CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION



#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

APPEAL NO.: 21-0181

#### WEST VIRGINIA STATE FIRE MARSHAL'S OFFICE,

Defendants Below, Petitioners,



v.

#### TAMMY S. WRATCHFORD and MICHAEL W. WRATCHFORD,

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

(Appeal from the Circuit Court of Hardy County, West Virginia; Civil Action No. CC-16-2018-C-3; The Honorable H. Charles Carl, III)

#### PETITIONER'S BRIEF

LOU ANN S. CYRUS W.Va. State Bar # 6558 Shuman McCuskey Slicer PLLC 1411 Virginia Street, East, Suite 200 Charleston, WV 25301 (304) 345-1400 lcyrus@shumanlaw.com

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- (1) The circuit court erred by failing to find that the West Virginia Office of the State Fire Marshal is entitled to qualified immunity for liability from the Wratchfords' claims for negligent training, supervision, and oversight because there is no genuine issue as to any material fact on whether an Office of the State Fire Marshal employee acted maliciously, fraudulently, or oppressively in their supervision, training, or oversight of Ayersman.
- (2) The circuit court erred by failing to find that the West Virginia Office of the State Fire Marshal is entitled to qualified immunity for its employees' discretionary acts related to the Wratchford house fire investigation.
- (3) The circuit court erred by failing to find that the West Virginia Office of the State Fire Marshal is entitled to qualified immunity for alleged conduct beyond the scope of an employee's employment.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of a February 9, 2021, order by the Circuit Court of Hardy County denying the West Virginia Office of the State Fire Marshal (hereinafter "WVSFMO") summary judgment on qualified immunity grounds. The circuit court denied the WVSFMO's motion because it determined that genuine issues of material fact existed regarding whether the actions of the WVSFMO and Assistant State Fire Marshal Ronald C. "Mackey" Ayersman were fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive. This Court should now reverse the circuit court and remand this case with instructions to the circuit court to grant the WVSFMO's motion for summary judgment because the WVSFMO is entitled to qualified immunity from liability for all claims because Plaintiffs-appellees, Tammy Wratchford and Michael Wratchford, fail to demonstrate a material issue of fact as to whether any WVSFMO employee, acting within the scope of his or her employment, violated a clearly established right or were fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive in their acts or omissions.

Qualified immunity is a deliberately set high bar to overcome and is "necessarily broad and protects all but the plainly incompetent or those who knowingly violate the law." *Maston v.* 

Wagner, 236 W. Va. 488, 500, 781 S.E.2d 936, 948 (2015) (internal quotation and citation omitted). To defeat qualified immunity, a plaintiff must show that a government official violated "a clearly established right of which a reasonable person would have known" or committed a fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive act or omission. W. Va. Div. of Nat. Res. v. Dawson, 242 W. Va. 176, 184, 832 S.E.2d 102, 110 (2019). Even if a plaintiff shows a government official's acts or omissions did violate a clearly established right or were otherwise fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive, the government agency is nonetheless entitled to qualified immunity if the official is not acting within the scope of their employment. Id. at 184-85.

The Wratchfords' claims arise from an origin and cause investigation into a February 20, 2017, house fire at the Wratchfords' residence. Ayersman conducted the investigation on behalf of the WVSFMO in his capacity as an Assistant State Fire Marshal. The Wratchfords contend that Ayersman used his position as Assistant State Fire Marshal to conclude that Ms. Wratchford intentionally caused the fire to be set so Ayersman and several other entities unrelated to the WVSFMO could benefit financially. The Wratchfords claim that the WVSFMO "failed to properly train, supervise and oversee actions, investigations and conduct" of Ayersman, and Ayersman "unlawfully conducted an investigation in concert with the other Defendants named in this action without regard to the requirements of his official duties and protocol of his public office." JA 00136. A fair reading of the Wratchfords' amended complaint indicates that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In addition to his job as an Assistant State Fire Marshal, Ayersman has secondary employment with a private fire investigation company, Fire & Safety Investigation Consulting Services, LLC ("FSI"). JA 00279. Ayersman's secondary employment with FSI is limited to investigating fires that have occurred outside of West Virginia. *Id.* FSI was retained by the Wratchfords' insurer, Erie Insurance Property & Casualty Company, to investigate the origin and cause of the Wratchford house fire. The Wratchfords contend that Ayersman charged Ms. Wratchford with arson so Erie could avoid paying an insurance claim and Ayersman, FSI, and FSI's principal, Christopher Brent Harris, could benefit financially. JA 00128. FSI, Erie, and Harris were all named as defendants in the underlying civil action.

Wratchfords seek to hold the WVSFMO vicariously liable for the acts or omissions of employees responsible for training, supervising, and overseeing Ayersman and for Ayersman's alleged conduct during his investigation into the Wratchford house fire.

The doctrine of qualified immunity insulates the WVSFMO from the claims asserted by the Wratchfords in this lawsuit. After having an opportunity to conduct discovery,<sup>2</sup> the Wratchfords are unable to identify any evidence that any WVSFMO employee engaged in fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive acts or omissions during their training, supervision, or oversight of Ayersman. Nor can the Wratchfords identify any evidence creating a triable issue of fact that Ayersman engaged in fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive acts or omissions during his investigation into the origin and cause of the Wratchford house fire.<sup>3</sup> Finally, the Wratchfords allege that Ayersman engaged in criminal conduct to benefit himself and individuals and entities other than the WVSFMO. Even if the Wratchfords have evidence creating a triable issue of fact with regard to such allegations, the WVSFMO is still entitled to qualified immunity because the conduct the Wratchfords allege occurred places Ayersman outside of the scope of his employment.

#### I. Factual Background

#### A. The Investigation

The basement stairs in the Wratchfords' home caught fire on February 20, 2017. JA 00104; JA 00318. The Wratchfords communicated the fire loss to their homeowner's insurer, Erie

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiffs are not automatically entitled to discovery when a state agency asserts qualified immunity as a defense. *See W. Va. State Police v. J.H.*, 2021 W. Va. LEXIS 149, \*15, 856 S.E.2d 679 (2021). In this case, the circuit court denied the WVSFMO's motion to dismiss on qualified immunity grounds and allowed the Wratchfords an opportunity to further develop the record in discovery. JA 00016.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The circuit court agrees with the WVSFMO that the Wratchfords fail to identify a clearly established law or right violated by a WVSFMO employee acting within the scope of their employment. JA 01366.

Insurance Property & Casualty Company. JA 00104. Erie hired Fire & Safety Investigation Consulting Services, LLC ("FSI") to conduct an origin and cause examination of the fire loss scene. JA 00294; JA 00428. On February 23, 2017, Brent Harris of FSI called Assistant State Fire Marshal III, George Harms, regarding the Wratchford house fire and told Harms that the WVSFMO needed to investigate the fire. JA 00303. Because of his workload, Harms assigned Ayersman to investigate the fire. JA 00280; 00303.

Ayersman spoke with Harris on February 23, 2017. JA 00307. Harris advised that he conducted an origin and cause investigation and was able to eliminate all potential accidental causes. *Id.* Harris told Ayersman that Harris believed that the fire was intentionally set, but an electrical engineer was going to be retained to examine the loss scene. *Id.* Ayersman inspected the fire loss scene the next day. First, he examined the exterior of the home and noted smoke and heat damage through windows but noted that the fire did not breach the exterior of the residence and was "isolated to the stairwell leading from the laundry room to the kitchen." JA 00317. Next, Ayersman examined the interior of the Wratchford home and observed heavy smoke damage and fire isolated to the stairwell leading up from the basement to the kitchen area. *Id.* "Damage was concentrated to the steps and lower levels of the walls in that area." *Id.* Ayersman observed that the damage to the stairwell "was consistent with the presence of an ignitable liquid or other combustible material." JA 00318. Ayersman noted the following:

I later utilized my "hydrocarbon sniffer" which alerted on the landing and bottom of the stairs. Samples taken from this area did not alert to the presence of an ignitable liquid. Mr. Wratchford stated that the burn patterns located against the wall (landing) were most likely do [sic] to the work clothes he had thrown there. I was unable to locate the clothing and Mike [Wratchford] was uncertain where they were at that time. The electrical wiring, stairwell ceiling light, and other potential electrical sources were examined and ruled out. Some of the wiring showed signs of external or secondary damage as result of the fire. Damage to this area is not consistent with the fire originating underneath the stairwell where the wiring was located, but is consistent with secondary exposure. A thorough examination of the

electrical service was later completed by Dr. Bert Davis who was able to eliminate it as a potential cause for the fire. Close inspection of the wall mounted light located in the stairwell revealed very little secondary heat exposure to the fixture itself. Closer inspection of its junction box and electrical wiring shows that it sustained only secondary heat damage. There are no indications that the fire originated at the wallmounted light fixture and it was easily eliminated as a potential cause for this fire. Closer examination of the electrical wiring located underneath the stairs revealed signs of minor electrical arcing. This electrical activity was a clear result of external flame impingement from the fire. There are no indications that the fire originated at the wiring and it is clear that it was damaged as a result of the fire. Damage to the "riser" found amongst the debris clearly showed signs of isolated fire damage to the top of the stairs.

*Id.* At the conclusion of his inspection, Ayersman was able to eliminate accidental causes and believed "the fire was incendiary in nature." JA 00308. Over the next several weeks, Ayersman continued to interview witnesses, including the Wratchfords, Moorefield fire fighters who responded to the fire scene, and neighbors. See JA 00307-19.

On March 9, 2017, after waiving her *Miranda* rights, Ms. Wratchford submitted to a polygraph examination conducted by Kevin Pansch, a Polygraph Examiner for the West Virginia State Police. Pansch advised that Ms. Wratchford was "not truthful" during the examination. JA 00323. Ayersman was not present in the room with Pansch and Ms. Wratchford during the examination. JA 00327. Following the examination, Ayersman and Pansch met with Ms. Wratchford, and Pansch discussed the results of the examination and informed Ms. Wratchford of his opinions. During this interview, Ms. Wratchford admitted that a few weeks prior to the February 20, 2017 fire, she intentionally left a candle burning under a tree in the living room in hopes that it would catch fire and burn her home. JA 00328-29. *See also* JA 00330.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> JA 330 is a blank page in the paper joint appendix produced to this Court because the actual "document" is an audio recording. An audio of a portion of the recorded statement given by Ms. Wratchford, from approximately 6:56 to 10:25, is being produced on a CD and is designated as JA 330.

Based upon his investigation, and documents he received via subpoena, Ayersman deduced that Ms. Wratchford's motivation for setting her home on fire was to collect insurance money for the home due to her financial situation and inability to make mortgage payments. At the time of the fire, the Wratchfords' mortgage loan had been "consistently and seriously past due for . . . two years." JA 00331. The Wratchfords were over \$6,000 behind on their mortgage, and Ms. Wratchford had recently learned that the bank was about to initiate foreclosure proceedings on her home. JA 00331-32. The Wratchfords had approximately \$1,500.00 in their bank accounts at the time of the fire. JA 00338-343.

#### **B.** The Criminal Prosecution

Ayersman submitted five criminal complaints against Ms. Wratchford to the Hardy County Magistrate. JA 00346-55. The charges included first degree arson; burning, or attempting to burn, insured property; insurance fraud; attempt to commit arson; and burning, or attempting to burn, insured property. *Id.* The Hardy County Magistrate determined probable caused existed that Ms. Wratchford committed each of the offenses and issued an arrest warrant. JA 00344. The Hardy County Magistrate conducted a preliminary hearing regarding the criminal charges pending against Ms. Wratchford and found probable cause existed to bound over the criminal charges to the grand jury. JA 01361.

Ms. Wratchford's criminal charges were presented to the grand jury by the Hardy County Prosecuting Attorney ("HCPA"). The HCPA testified at deposition that there was enough evidence against Ms. Wratchford that he would have been able to convince the Grand Jury to indict Ms. Wratchford had he desired. JA 00483. Despite the evidence, the HCPA chose not to call Ayersman as a witness during presentment to the Grand Jury. Instead, he called Paul Alloway, another Assistant State Fire Marshal, to testify. JA 00358. Alloway was not involved in any aspect of the

investigation. JA 00358-59. In addition to Alloway, the HCPA called Ms. Wratchford's paid expert to testify and rebut Ayersman's investigation and conclusion. JA 00362-67. Finally, the HCPA called Ms. Wratchford to testify before the Grand Jury and allowed her to offer an unrebutted exculpatory version of events. JA 00368-83. On February 12, 2018, the Grand Jury returned a no true bill, and the charges against Ms. Wratchford were dismissed.<sup>5</sup>

### II. Procedural History

On February 13, 2018, the Wratchfords filed their original complaint and initiated the underlying civil action. The Wratchfords asserted various claims against Ayersman, all arising from actions he took while he investigated the origin and cause of the subject fire. The crux of the Wratchfords' allegations centered around assertions that Ayersman, who had secondary employment with FSI investigating fires outside of West Virginia, presented false evidence against Ms. Wratchford and charged her criminally so Ms. Wratchford's homeowner's insurer, Erie, could avoid paying any insurance claim related to the fire. The Wratchfords contend that Ayersman did this so Ayersman, FSI, and Harris could benefit financially. The Wratchfords did not name the WVSFMO as a defendant in their original complaint, but, on July 8, 2018, the Wratchfords filed their amended complaint and timely served the WVSFMO. The Wratchfords did not amend their initial claims against the originally named defendants but asserted that the WVSFMO failed to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> There were numerous irregularities as to how the HCPA presented to the Grand Jury. See JA 00258-59. For example, when one of the Grand Jury members asked Ms. Wratchford's expert who hired him, the expert responded that he was being paid by Ms. Wratchford's attorney, but the HCPA interjected and said the expert was "an independent witness for the State." JA 00368. Yet, when deposed, the HCPA admitted he knew the expert was retained by Ms. Wratchford's attorney. JA 00386. Further, the HCPA falsely suggested that Ayersman misrepresented Ms. Wratchford's financial situation and failed to elicit any evidence that the Wratchfords were severely behind on their mortgage at the time of the fire. JA 00376-77.

properly train, supervise and oversee Ayersman, and the WVSFMO was responsible for Ayersman's alleged conduct.

#### A. The Claims Against WVSFMO

The amended complaint contains only one expressed "count" directed at the WVSFMO: "West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office, West Virginia Department of Military Affairs and Public Safety, Ronald C. "Mackey" Ayersman, Assistant West Virginia State Fire Marshal." JA 00135. The majority of the factual allegations are directed at Ayersman, but the Wratchfords claim that the WVSFMO failed to properly train, supervise, and oversee Ayersman's conduct. JA 00136. Specifically, the Wratchfords allege that the WVSFMO "failed to properly supervise and train its officers, including the Defendant, Mackey Ayersman, in investigation procedures of police work, witness interview, treatment of witnesses, and protocol in handling information and evidence obtained during an official investigation[s]." JA 000137. The Wratchfords further claim that the WVSFMO failed to properly conduct its investigation into the subject fire, ignored exculpatory evidence, and had actual knowledge that allowing felony charges to pend against Ms. Wratchford would have an adverse impact for her. JA 00136-38.

In regard to Ayersman, the Wratchfords claim that he "failed to properly investigate the underlying circumstances" and "unlawfully conducted an investigation in concert with" FSI, Erie, and other defendants named in the underlying civil action. JA 00136. The Wratchfords allege that, during the investigation, Ayersman acted "without regard to the requirements of his official duties and protocol of his public office" and engaged in "unlawful conduct," which ultimately led to him using his position "to unlawfully prosecute the Plaintiff, Tammy Wratchford, without probable cause, upon false statements made within a Criminal Complaint, and upon false testimony during a felony proceeding as described within other paragraphs of this Complaint." *Id.* The Wratchfords

claim that Ayersman's actions were "intentionally calculated to benefit and further his own economic interests; the economic interests of the Defendant, Harris; and the Defendant, FSI[.]" JA 128.

#### B. Discovery

The WVSFMO initially filed a motion to dismiss and argued it was entitled to qualified immunity based upon the allegations in the amended complaint. JA 00013. The motion was denied as to the WVSFMO's qualified immunity arguments, and the Wratchfords were provided an opportunity to engage in discovery on their theories against the WVSFMO. JA 00016.

Despite claiming that the WVSFMO was negligent in its training, supervision, and oversight of Ayersman, the Wratchfords admitted in deposition that they are not aware of the specific training Ayersman received as an Assistant State Fire Marshal. JA 00484-86. The Wratchfords' retained expert, Steve Dawson,<sup>6</sup> admitted in his deposition that he is not familiar with the training that Ayersman received as an Assistant State Fire Marshal. JA 00501. Dawson admitted that he is not aware of any WVSFMO employee who violated any statute, rule, or regulation, and he cannot identify any clearly established law or right that any employee violated in the training, supervision, and oversight of Ayersman. JA 00510-11.

Dawson testified that he did not even read the Fire Commission Office of the State Fire Marshal Policy and Procedure Manual which governed Ayersman's investigation. JA 00488. Dawson admits that, prior to his deposition, he did not know whether the WVSFMO even had governing policies or procedures. *Id.* In offering his opinions related to this case, Dawson relies

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Wratchfords disclosed Dawson as an expert to, *inter alia*, "evaluate the actions of Ayersman" and to identify violations of "State protocol and State policy" by the WVSFMO. JA 00525; 00998. During deposition, Dawson demonstrated a lack of awareness of policies and procedures applicable to the WVSFMO. *See generally* JA 00487-511. Ayersman and the WVSFMO moved to disqualify Dawson as an expert, but the circuit court denied the motion. *See* JA 00050; 00095.

upon policies and procedures of the West Virginia State Police but admits that the WVSFMO is not required to follow State Police policies and procedures. JA 00496-97. Dawson accuses Ayersman of revealing confidential information and not following the law "by not doing his investigation properly and by [submitting false information] on an application for a warrant." JA 00510. Dawson otherwise is not critical of any of WVSFMO employee in their acts or omissions. 00510-11. Although discovery remained open for over a year, the Wratchfords chose not to depose any WVSFMO employee to determine who was responsible for training or supervising Ayersman and whether the person responsible for training or supervising Ayersman violated any policies or otherwise committed fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive acts or omissions.

#### C. Summary Judgment

After the completion of discovery, the WVSFMO filed its motion for summary judgment and renewed its argument that it should be dismissed from the lawsuit because it is entitled to qualified immunity. JA00404-05. On February 9, 2021, the circuit court entered its Order Denying West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office Motion for Summary Judgment. JA 01359-68.

The circuit court determined that the WVSFMO employee acts and omissions at issue were discretionary. JA 01366. Next, the circuit court determined that the Wratchfords cannot identify a clearly established right or law that any WVSFMO employee violated while acting within the scope of their employment. *Id.* Yet, the circuit court failed to grant summary judgment in favor of

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