IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

APPEAL NO.: 21-0181



WEST VIRGINIA STATE FIRE MARSHAL'S OFFICE,

Defendants Below, Petitioners,

V.

TAMMY S. WRATCHFORD and MICHAEL W. WRATCHFORD,

Plaintiffs Below, Respondents,

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARDY COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA CIVIL ACTION NO: CC-16-2018-C-3 JUDGE H. CHARLES CARL. III

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS IN OPPOSITION TO THE WEST VIRGINIA STATE FIRE MARSHAL

and RESPONDENTS' CROSS PETITION

PREPARED BY:

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

1

This matter is before the Court for review of the Circuit Court's decision to deny the Fire Marshal's Motion for Summary Judgment and the Cross Petition of Plaintiffs below. "A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed *de novo.*" Syl. Pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E. 2d 755 (1994). This Court has previously held that "in reviewing summary judgment, this Court will apply the same test that the circuit court should have used initially, and must determine whether 'it is clear that there is no genuine issue of fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law'." *Zirkle v. Winkler*, 214 W.Va. 19, 21, 585 S.E. 2d 19, 21 (2003) (quoting Syl. Pt. 3, *Aetna Casualty & Surety Co. v. Federal Insurance Co. of New York*, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E. 2d 770 (1963)). The Circuit Court cited the legal basis for its review for purposes of summary judgment. The Court considered the Pleadings and Exhibits filed in the entire Circuit Court record without oral argument. The entire Circuit Court record must be open for review.

B. RESPONSES TO SPECIFIC ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Response to Assignment of Error No. 1: The Fire Marshal's Office is not entitled to qualified immunity for issues related to training, supervision and oversight of officials and employees at the West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office in conducting an investigation and/or in the prosecution of a purported criminal offense for discretionary functions, acts, or omissions that are in violation of clearly established or constitutional rights or law or of which a reasonable person have known or are otherwise fraudulent, malicious, or oppressive in accordance with State v. Chase Securities, Inc., 188 W.Va. 356, 424 S.E. 2d 591(1992). Syl. Pt. 5, Maston v. Wagner, supra. The subjective motivations of a police officer are irrelevant. Syl. Pt. 6, Id.
- 2. Response to Assignment of Error No. 2: Based upon the foregoing, Assignment of Error Number 2 by the Fire Marshal's Office, "discretionary acts", is necessarily incorporated within the discussion of Assignment of Error Number 1.

At paragraph 22 of the Order of the Circuit Court denying the Motion for Summary

Judgment of the West Virginia State Fire Marshal, the Court found as follows:

22. Here, the Court finds it is undisputed that the West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office is a State agency. The Court further finds that the acts or omissions of the WVSFMO are discretionary. "Broad categories of training, supervision, and employee retention... easily fall within the category of discretionary governmental functions" to which the immunity applies. A.B., 234 W.Va. @ 514, 766 S. E. 2d at 773 (internal quotation marks omitted).

The Fire Marshal's Office throws in the term "negligent" as modifying the claims of the Wratchfords against the Fire Marshal's Office for failing to properly train, supervise and oversee the conduct of Ayersman and its employees during the investigation of the Wratchford fire and the prosecution of Mrs. Wratchford. As Respondents demonstrate herein, modifying the required supervision, training or oversight by the Fire Marshal's Office with the term "negligent" is immaterial. *Maston*, supra. The critical underlying issue in this matter is the failure of the Fire Marshal's Office to require Ayersman and the other employees at the West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office to comply with known policies, procedures, protocol, and the statutory requirements of independent integrity and obligations to the public in avoiding conflicts of interests and in complying with statutory law to avoid the abuses of the constitutional rights of the Respondents, Plaintiffs below, as described in the underlying foundation and historical facts of this case. JA 00946.

Respondents, Plaintiffs below, particularly and specifically raised numerous bona fide disputes as to foundational and historical facts that underlie the immunity determination and which require these violations of the statutory and constitutional rights of the Plaintiffs to go to the jury. *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W.Va. 139, 479 S.E. 2d 649 (1996); *West Virginia Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority v. A.B.*, 234 W.Va. 492, 766 S.E. 2d 751 (2014); *Maston v. Wagner*, 236 W.Va. 488, 781 S.E. 2d 936 (2015). There are genuine issues of fact as to which master Ayersman was serving given the virtually identical character of his employment with each, the nature of his wrongful acts and omissions, and the time and place of the commission of each act or omission when it occurred. *Griffith v. George Transfer and Rigging, Inc.*, 157 W.Va. 316, 201 S.E. 2d 281 (1973), also cited in *West Virginia Division of Natural Resources v. Dawson*, 242 W.Va. 176, 932 S.E. 2d 102 (2019).

It is not the subjective belief, motive, or intent or even "negligence" of the public officer that is determinative in considering qualified immunity. *State v. Chase Securities, Inc.*, 188 W.Va. 356, 424 S.E. 2d 591 (1997); *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982). The question to determine entitlement to qualified immunity, in the absence of fraudulent, malicious, or otherwise oppressive acts of a public official, centers on whether an objectively reasonable official, situated similarly to the Defendant, could have believed that his conduct did not violate the Plaintiffs' statutory or constitutional rights in light of clearly established law and the information possessed by the Defendant at the time of commission of the wrongful conduct. *City of Saint Albans v. Botkins*, 228 W.Va. 393, 719 S.E. 2d 863 (2011). The case *sub judice* is complicated by the dual employment of Ayersman which compromised his integrity. Ayersman clearly cannot avoid issues of negligence if found acting for FSI and Erie. "Negligence" also is not an element of the consideration of how or why Ayersman violated statutory or constitutional laws protecting the Plaintiffs in the course of his public employment. Ayersman was required to follow personnel policies, police protocol, and statutory and constitutional protections in place designed to protect the citizens of West Virginia (JA 01069-

1084), which are designed to prevent the violations described in Plaintiffs' pleadings, statements, depositions, and as found by Plaintiffs' expert, Steven Dawson, a retired executive officer with the West Virginia State Police and a person with great integrity and experience as an executive and practicing law enforcement officer. Claims of why Ayersman violated policies, procedure, statutes or constitutional protections or his subjective beliefs will not release Ayersman or the Fire Marshal's Office from liability and damages if the jury finds that Ayersman was acting within the authority of his State employment and that the actions were condoned, accepted, directed, or otherwise considered a part of his authority and duties or expected as a part of his public employment by his superiors at the West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office. Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982); Chase Securities, Inc., v. The West Virginia State Board of Investments, 188 W.Va. 356, 424 S.E. 2d 591 (1992).

The secondary employment of Ayersman is critical in his investigation by his close association and communications with Erie and Harris and his reliance on initial information they generated rather than his own independent investigation. Jones of Erie and Ayersman in his dual capacity met the Wratchfords at the fire scene on February 24, 2017, armed with wrong credit reports and wrong background checks of the Wratchfords. JA 01017. The Plaintiffs, Tammy and Mike Wratchford gave Jones and Ayersman correct identity and bank information on February 24, 2017, and each were immediately called "liar" by Jones. ¹⁰ JA 00121. Bank mortgage documents were provided with payment and balance information during the joint meeting with Jones and Ayersman on February 24, 2017. SA 141. ¹¹ Ayersman "walked Jones through the scene" on February 24, 2017, as noted in the email of Ayersman to Erie after that inspection. JA 01013. ¹² Because of the undue influence and initial conclusions which Ayersman

Amended Complaint paragraphs 69-70; (JA 00121)Response of Plaintiffs to Motions for Summary Judgment of the Erie Insurance Company page 4

12 Steven Dawson Exhibit 20; CMSF page 66, Ayersman CD (JA 00701)

Ayersman CD, Bank Mortgage Statements; (SA 141)Plaintiffs' Preliminary Response to Motions for Summary Judgment. (SA 512-530)There are additional records in evidence not specifically noticed in this appeal.

received from his private employer and best friend, Harris (JA 01120), and because of his private working relationship with Erie (JA 01117), Ayersman ignored the objective facts presented at the Wratchford home from the outset; ignored his duties to the public of impartiality and integrity (JA 01069-1084); and embarked on his misguided reign of terror against Tammy Wratchford. The Fire Marshal's Office was clearly aware of the conflict from the disclosure of Secondary Employment (JA 01121-1125) and from the official CV of Ayersman in the investigation file (SA 113), yet did nothing to prevent these violations. Failure of the Fire Marshal's Office to enforce state policies and statutory mandates is critical in this case.

Harris and Ayersman had numerous phone (JA 00693-700) and text communications (JA 01097-1106) before Ayersman was appointed by his State superiors to begin his "official investigation".

13 JA 00676-00678; 01012; 01085-01086; 00079-88; 01097-01098. The Erie Claim Management System File, hereinafter "CMSF", shows Erie, Harris, and Ayersman were working together from February 20, 2017, the very day of the fire. JA 01085-1086.

14 Harris gave Ayersman Harris' conclusions of an "incendiary" start of this fire on February 23, 2017 while Harris was still at the Wratchford home. JA 1091; SA 137.

15 Rather than beginning his investigation independently with required unbiased integrity of a public officer, Ayersman's first impression was poisoned by his association with Harris and Erie. George Harms was clearly aware of the contacts between Ayersman and Harris before Ayersman was assigned the fire investigation for the Wratchford fire and George Harms, as a previous employee of Harris and FSI, was fully aware of the relationship of Harris and Ayersman.

February 20, 2017, email from Chad Tuttoilmondo to FSI/Harris copied to Ayersman-attached to Motion to Expand, Exhibit 113B (SA 276)

Dawson Report pages 3-5, Exhibits 2 and 12; (JA 00676-678; JA 692-700)phone records and text records in Preliminary Response of Plaintiffs to Motions for Summary Judgment; Response of Plaintiffs to Ayersman's Motion for Summary Judgment (SA 278-290)

Harris Report of 3/15/17 page 7; (JA 00300) Erie CMSF p. 87-88, (SA 146-147) Ayersman Narrative Report page 2, (JA 00671); phone records of Harris attached to Motion to Expand, Exhibit 114 (SA 278-290)

• a. Violations of the Ethics Act, West Virginia Code § 6B-1-2, et seq., including West Virginia Code § 6B-2-5(e), can defeat the qualified immunity defense of the Petitioner.

These issues have been fully argued by the Plaintiffs below within the Response of Plaintiffs to Motion for Summary Judgment of Ronald C. Ayersman filed March 5, 2020, and these issues were raised by the Plaintiffs factually within Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint (JA 1-42) at paragraphs 7, 44, 79, 88, 98, 106, 107, 128, 131, 132, 134, 135, and 136. Aversman filed a Request for Determination regarding secondary employment identifying his secondary employer as "Fire Safety Investigations" and citing the nature of the business as "private origin and cause" in the "investigation of fires outside the State of West Virginia" filed January 30. 2010 with the West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office. JA 00282-284. A copy of that Request for Determination was obtained by Plaintiffs from the Ethic's Commission together with a letter dated October 16, 2017, copies of which are attached to Plaintiffs' Preliminary Response to Motions for Summary Judgment below. JA 01121-1126; SA 300-305. Ayersman is admittedly a "public employee" with the West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office, a governmental agency with the State of West Virginia. This Court has held that a public employee owes an undivided duty of loyalty to the public whom he serves and is not permitted to place himself in a situation that will subject him to conflicting duties or expose him to the temptation of acting in any manner other than in the best interest of the public. Graf v. Frame, 177 W.Va. 282, 352 S.E. 2d 31 (1986). This Court has held that the policy of law mandated by the Ethics Act is to prevent a public officer from placing himself in a situation where his private interest conflicts with his public duty, and to keep him so far from temptation as to insure the exercise of unselfish public interests. Id. The statutory provisions under Chapter 6B of the West Virginia Code are not simply instructional for the public employee or the public agency. The Ethics Act is clearly designed by the legislature to protect the public and to insure the integrity and impartiality of public employees and public officials to protect the basic constitutional rights of the citizens of

¹⁸ There is no public record of a business with this name in West Virginia as claimed by Ayersman.

the State of West Virginia. JA 01069-1084; *Graf v. Frame*, supra. The Ethics Commission dismissal of Plaintiffs' Ethics Complaints is not dispositive. Those dismissals cannot be appealed and are irrelevant to these proceedings.

The seminal case of *Harlow v. Fitzgerald*, 457 U.S. 800, 102 S. Ct. 2727, 73 L. Ed. 2d 396 (1982) broadly states that "government officials performing discretionary functions generally are shielded from liability for civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known". West Virginia has followed this mandate in numerous cases previously cited within Respondents' Brief. *Chase Securities, Inc., v. West Virginia Board of Investments,* supra; *Clark v. Dunn,* supra; *Hutchison v. City of Huntington,* supra; *City of Saint Albans v. Botkins,* supra; *West Virginia Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority v. A.B.,* supra; *Maston v. Wagoner,* supra; *West Virginia State Police v. Hughes,* supra; *West Virginia Department of Health and Human Resources v. Payne,* supra; *West Virginia Division of Natural Resources v. Dawson,* supra. There is no exception contained within any law of the State of West Virginia to support the ruling of the Circuit Court. The West Virginia Ethics Act is clearly designed to protect the citizens of West Virginia from conflicts of interests and actions such as those which are described by the Plaintiffs against the Defendants, Ayersman and the West Virginia State Fire Marshal's Office in Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint below. JA 01069-1084.

b. There is no exception in West Virginia Law which allows a qualified immunity defense to a state agency or a state employee based upon the claim that a constitutional right must "specifically apply to the Plaintiffs".

The Constitution of the State of West Virginia and the Constitution of the United States of America are written for **ALL** citizens. The legislature describes the purpose of the Ethics Act of the State of West Virginia within West Virginia Code § 6B-1-29(a) finding that "the holding of a public office or public employment is a public trust. Independence and impartiality of public officials and public employees are essential for the maintenance of the confidence of our citizens in the operation of a democratic government." West Virginia Code § 6B-1-2(b) states

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